NO. 44487-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LARDELL COURTNEY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable James Orlando, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID B. KOCH
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 E Madison Street
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant's convictions for robbery and assault violate double jeopardy.

2. Appellant's convictions for robbery and assault involve the same criminal conduct for sentencing purposes.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Appellant was convicted of robbery and assault. The assault established the element of force for the robbery. Generally, in the absence of clear contrary legislative intent, convictions for robbery and assault merge under these circumstances and the assault conviction is vacated. Do appellant's convictions merge?

2. Appellant's crimes involve the same victim, same time and place, and same intent. Did the sentencing court err when it failed to find they constituted the "same criminal conduct" for purposes of appellant's offender score?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the evening of September 6, 2012, Lardell Courtney entered a Tacoma Safeway and headed for the liquor aisle. RP 27, 35-37. Once there, he grabbed two bottles of alcohol and placed them inside his pants. RP 38-39. He then walked past the registers without making any effort to pay for the alcohol and exited the store.

RP 40-41.

Undercover security officer Nathaniel Duval-Igarta had been watching Courtney and followed him out of the store. RP 25-27, 40-41. As Courtney looked back, Duval pulled out his badge, identified himself as a security officer, and ordered Courtney to stop. Courtney ran away and Duval gave chase. RP 41-44. A second security officer, Axel Engelardt-Parales, assisted in the chase. RP 44, 78-79.

Duval was able to catch up with Courtney in the parking lot. Courtney looked over his left shoulder, saw Duval close behind, swung his right arm around, and unsuccessfully tried to strike Duval with his closed fist. RP 45-46. In response, Duval grabbed Courtney's jacket and pushed him forward, using Courtney's own momentum to bring him to the ground. RP 47-48. The two liquor bottles slipped out of Courtney's pants and landed on the asphalt. They did not break, however. RP 67-68, 70.

Duval then got on top of Courtney, but Courtney was able to momentarily escape his grasp by standing. RP 48-49. Engelhardt then wrapped his arms around Courtney from behind and threw him back to the ground. RP 79-80. Courtney continued to resist, squirming and attempting to hit both men and, at one point, striking Duval in the face. RP 49-51, 80-83. Duval was able to gain control,

however, and placed Courtney in restraints. RP 51, 82.

The Pierce County Prosecutor's Office charged Courtney with three crimes: (count 1) Robbery in the Second Degree, (count 2) Assault in the Third Degree (against Duval), and (count 3) Assault in the Third Degree (against Engelhardt). CP 5-7. A jury convicted Courtney on counts 1 and 2, but acquitted him on count 3. CP 10, 12-13. Jurors also entered a special verdict finding that Courtney committed his offenses shortly after being released from incarceration. CP 9.

At sentencing, Courtney argued his crimes involved the same criminal conduct and should be treated as a single offense for purposes of his offender score. RP 160-161. Although not directly addressing the issue, the court treated them as separate offenses and imposed an exceptional 96-month sentence for the robbery and a standard range 60-month sentence for the assault. CP 45, 49, 75-77. Courtney timely filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 61-74.

C. ARGUMENT

1. COURTNEY'S CONVICTIONS FOR ROBBERY AND ASSAULT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY.¹

"The double jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment and article 1, § 9 of the Washington Constitution prohibit multiple punishments for the same offense." State v. Lynch, 93 Wn. App. 716, 723, 970 P.2d 769 (1999)(quoting State v. Hull, 83 Wn. App. 786, 792, 924 P.2d 375 (1996)). Although this is a constitutional protection, in deciding whether multiple punishments are allowed, the judicial inquiry is limited to one question: what did the legislature intend? State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776, 888 P.2d 155 (1995).

One test for legislative intent is the merger doctrine. "Under the merger doctrine, when the degree of one offense is raised by conduct separately criminalized by the legislature, [courts] presume the legislature intended to punish both offenses through a greater sentence for the greater crime" rather than two convictions. State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 772-773, 108 P.3d 753 (2005).

¹ A double jeopardy claim may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 746, 132 P.3d 136 (2006).

In Freeman, the Washington Supreme Court held that “[u]nder the merger rule, assault committed in furtherance of a robbery merges with robbery” in the absence of apparent contrary legislative intent. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 778 (citing 13 ROYCE A. FERGUSON, Jr., Washington Practice: Criminal Practice and Procedure § 4706, at 340-344 (3d ed. 2004)). Freeman involved first degree robbery and second degree assault, and the Supreme Court adopted a “a case by case approach” for determining whether the crimes are the same for double jeopardy, concluding that “[g]enerally, it appears these two crimes will merge unless they have an independent purpose or effect.”² Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 780.

Moreover, use of the merger doctrine is not limited to first degree robbery. It applies when an assault elevates a theft to a second degree robbery. In In re Butler, 24 Wn. App. 175, 177, 599 P.2d 1311 (1979), this Court held that second degree robbery and second degree assault also merge where the acts of force

² The Freeman Court also examined whether *first* degree robbery and *first* degree assault merged, concluding they do not because of clear evidence the Legislature intended separate punishments for each. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 775-776, 778-780. There is no similar evidence for the crimes at issue in Courtney’s case.

necessary to commit the robbery are the same acts of force constituting the assault. Butler's assault conviction was vacated. Butler, 24 Wn. App. at 178.

There is no reason a different rule should apply for second degree robbery and third degree assault. The acts of force Courtney used to commit the robbery were the same acts of force constituting the assault. There was no independent purpose or effect to the assault.

During closing argument, it appears the prosecutor attempted to avoid any double jeopardy violation by dividing the assaultive acts:

The defendant does not need to inflict violence in order for this to be a robbery. He only needs to use or threaten to use force, and clearly that is what happened with that first swing when he missed Nathaniel Duval. That was clearly force or threat of force. . . . Defense counsel talked about the swing that was going on after they grabbed him. The robbery already took place at the time that Nathaniel Duval was swung at the first time. That swinging, when he first, when the defendant first swung at Mr. Duval that was robbery, because at that time the defendant still had the bottles of liquor on his person. Remember, it was when he was taken down to the ground that they slid across the ground without breaking, and that only happens if someone who's close to the ground – these are glass bottles. So clearly, at the time the defendant first swung at Nathaniel Duval, when the defendant still had the bottles on his person, that is robbery. Once those

bottles slid out, slid away, the defendant no longer had the property. So any assault that took place later on is not part of a robbery. They're kind of – two different chunks of this.

We had the robbery that occurred while the defendant still had the bottles, and then we had two assaults that occurred after the bottles skidded across the pavement.

RP 123-124.

There are at least two problems with this argument. First, the division between Courtney's use of force before the bottles slipped from his pants and after they slipped from his pants is an artificial one. Washington has adopted the transactional view of robbery, meaning the use of force can occur during the taking or thereafter to retain possession of the property. State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284, 293, 830 P.2d 641 (1992). Under this view, the transaction is not complete "until the assailant has effected his escape." Id. at 290 (quoting State v. Manchester, 57 Wn. App. 765, 769, 790 P.2d 217, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1019, 802 P.2d 126 (1999)); see also State v. Truong, 168 Wn. App. 529, 277 P.3d 74, 77 ("The taking is ongoing until the assailant has effected an escape."), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1020, 290 P.3d 994 (2012). Because Courtney had not effected his escape when he assaulted Duval (while running or on the ground), all force was

part and parcel of the ongoing robbery.

Second, even if a robbery could be divided in the manner attempted by the prosecutor, merely arguing this theory to the jury would be insufficient to prevent a double jeopardy violation. The jury instructions did not limit jurors in any manner concerning the force used to commit robbery. Consistent with a transactional view of robbery, jurors could have used Courtney's attempt to hit Duval while the two were still upright or Courtney's struggle and/or successful punch to Duval's face while the two were on the ground to satisfy the force element. See CP 6-7 (no election in robbery instructions).

In order to defeat a double jeopardy claim, it must be manifestly apparent to jurors the State was not seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same act and manifestly apparent each conviction was based on a separate act. State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 664, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). Where jury instructions permit a double jeopardy violation, this will be "a rare circumstance." Id. at 665; see also State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 813, 194 P.3d 212 (2008) (election in closing insufficient to cure double jeopardy violation because jurors are told to rely on evidence and court's instructions rather than counsel's arguments).

Because Courtney's convictions for robbery and assault violate double jeopardy, his assault conviction must be vacated. See State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 269, 149 P.3d 646 (2006) (usual remedy for double jeopardy violation is to vacate the offense carrying the lesser sentence), cert. denied, 551 U.S. 1137, 127 S. Ct. 2986, 168 L. Ed. 2d 714 (2007).

2. COURTNEY'S CONVICTIONS ARE "THE SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT" FOR PURPOSES OF HIS OFFENDER SCORE.

"[W]henver a person is to be sentenced for two or more current offenses, the sentence range for each current offense shall be determined by using all other current and prior convictions as if they were prior convictions for the purpose of the offender score" unless the crimes involve the "same criminal conduct." RCW 9.94A.589 (1)(a).

"Same criminal conduct" means crimes that involve the same intent, were committed at the same time and place, and involved the same victim. Id. The test is an objective one that:

takes into consideration how intimately related the crimes committed are, and whether, between the crimes charged, there was any substantial change in the nature of the criminal objective. Also relevant is whether one crime furthered the other.

State v. Burns, 114 Wn.2d 314, 318, 788 P.2d 531 (1990). The issue is reviewed for an abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law, and the defendant bears the burden to show two crimes involve the same criminal conduct. State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 535-539, 295 P.3d 219 (2013).

Both the assault and the robbery involved the same victim – Duval. They also involved the same time and place. The State conceded this below, but argued the two crimes involved different intents. RP 162. In fact, they involved the same intent.

“The standard is the extent to which the criminal intent, objectively viewed, changed from one crime to the next.” State v. Vike, 125 Wn.2d 407, 411, 885 P.2d 824 (1994). This includes whether the crimes were part of the same scheme or plan. State v. Calvert, 79 Wn. App. 569, 577-78, 903 P.2d 1003 (1995), review denied, 129 Wn.2d 1005, 914 P.2d 65 (1996). Also relevant is whether one crime furthered the other. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d at 540; Burns, 114 Wn.2d at 318.

Here, both crimes were part of the same episode. Moreover, the assault most certainly furthered the robbery, as it was the means by which Courtney attempted to escape with the liquor. Indeed, the assaultive conduct was the force that elevated

what would have been a theft to a robbery. The State's contrary argument rested on its artificial distinction, discussed above in the context of double jeopardy, between the moment Courtney had the liquor in his pants and the moment it slipped out as he fell to the ground. RP 162 (prosecutor argues robbery "over and done with" when bottles fall to the ground). Because both crimes involved the same criminal intent – an intent to escape with stolen merchandise – the assault and robbery should have been treated as a single crime for purposes of Courtney's offender score.