NO. 44487-9

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

LARDELL COURTNEY, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable James Orlando

No. 12-1-03395-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

KATHLEEN PROCTOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

- 7 -

CP 83, RP 10-11. Defendant cannot show any practical and identifiable consequences to his trial or that he was prejudiced. To the contrary, from the record it would appear that he benefited from procedures used without harmful consequences. His failure to object to what he now claims was a courtroom closure within the scope of the right to a public trial and his inability to establish resulting actual prejudice should preclude appellate review. Despite the fact that he cannot show any actual prejudice from the procedures used, defendant nevertheless, argues that he is entitled to a new trial. This is an abuse of the judicial process that should not be condoned.

This court should find that defendant's failure to object brings this issue under RAP 2.5(a)(3) and that he has failed to show an issue of truly constitutional magnitude that has caused him actual prejudice. As such this court should refuse to review the claim.

b. <u>The Courtroom Was Open Throughout Voir</u> <u>Dire Proceedings.</u>

A criminal defendant's right to a public trial is found in article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution; both provide a criminal defendant the right to a "public trial by an impartial jury." The state constitution also provides that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly," which grants the public an interest in open, accessible proceedings, similar to rights granted in the First Amendment of the federal constitution. Wash. Const. article I, section 10; *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 91, 257 P.3d 624 (2011); *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982); *Press–Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court*, 464 U.S. 501, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984). The public trial right "serves to ensure a fair trial, to remind the prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the accused and the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury." *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 72, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). "There is a strong presumption that courts are to be open at all trial stages." *Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d at 90. The right to a public trial includes voir dire. *Presley v. Georgia*, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010).

Whether the right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 147, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). The right to a public trial is violated when: 1) the public is fully excluded from proceedings within a courtroom, *State v. Bone–Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 257, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) (no spectators allowed in courtroom during a suppression hearing) and *State v. Easterling*, 157 Wn.2d 167, 172, 137 P.3d 825 (2006) (all spectators, including codefendant and his counsel, excluded from the courtroom while codefendant plea-bargained); 2) the entire voir dire is closed to all spectators, *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 511, 122 P.3d 150 (2005); 3) and is implicated when individual jurors are privately questioned in chambers, *see State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 146, 217 P.3d 321 (2009) and *State v. Strode*, 167 Wn.2d 222, 224, 217 P.3d 310 (2009) (jury selection is conducted in chambers rather than in an open courtroom without consideration of the *Bone–Club* factors). In contrast, conducting individual voir dire in an open courtroom without the rest of the venire present does not constitute a closure. *State v. Erickson*, 146 Wn. App. 200, 189 P.3d 245 (2008).

When faced with a claim that a trial court has improperly closed a courtroom, the Washington Supreme Court has held that the reviewing court determines the nature of the closure by the presumptive effect of the plain language of the court's ruling, not by the ruling's actual effect. *In re Personal Restraint of Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 807-8, 100 P.3d 291 (2004).

In the case now before the Court, defendant argues that the procedure used by the court for exercising challenges for cause and peremptory challenges each constituted a courtroom closure. The record shows that the following occurred: In an open court room with the defendant present, the trial court articulated how it wanted counsel to address challenges for cause. See RP 2-5.

COURT: ... If there are any causes that arise, challenges for cause that arise while you are talking to jurors, I would ask that you just stop and we'll deal with that outside the presence of other jurors. If we need to excuse them outside in the hallway, we can do that; otherwise, we can take them up at the end of the juror questioning and prior to you doing your peremptory challenges, executing any challenges for cause. ...

•••

PROSECUTOR: Your Honor, just to clarify, the cause challenges you want us making at the time they arise?

COURT: I would just ask you call for a sidebar, and we can talk about it briefly and then figure out what we are going to do to deal with it formally on the record.

PROSECUTOR: Okay.

COURT: If it's an obvious one, I may, if you're doing the questioning and it's a fairly obvious challenge, then I'll ask Mr. Shaw if he has any objections to excusing that juror, just to move things along rather than setting it out. Any other procedural issues?

RP 4-5. Neither defendant nor his attorney objected to this proposal. RP

5-8. Defense counsel asked for a sidebar after his first opportunity to question the venire members. SRP 33. Both venire persons who were ultimately excused for cause, Juror Nos. 11 and 16, were asked questions after this sidebar, which would indicate that the court had not excused either for cause during this sidebar. SRP 34, 39-40, 41, 44-46. At the close of questioning, the court called both counsel to a sidebar before the

attorneys started the peremptory challenge process. SRP 47. The

peremptory challenge process went as follows:

THE COURT: Folks, you can sit back and relax. The attorneys will be making their final selection here in writing and then when they're done, we will have folks take the jury box. You can talk quietly between yourselves over anything other than this case. Okay?

And [defense counsel], I'm going to turn off the headset. [Judicial assistant] if you would do that.

Defense Counsel: Thank you. (Off the record while the attorneys are doing their peremptory challenges.)

THE COURT: At this time, when I call your name, I'm going to ask you to come forward and take a seat in our jury box. ...

SRP 47. The court then read off the names of the jurors who would sit on

the case and excused the remainder of the venire. SRP 47-48. After

seating the jury and excusing the remainder of the jury venire, the court

made the following record about the sidebar:

COURT: I want to indicate, while everyone is still present in the courtroom, which remains an open courtroom and it was in all parts of the jury selection process. I would indicate that we had a discussion at sidebar regarding two jurors, No. 11 and No. 16. I excused both of them for cause. [The prosecutor] was not in agreement with excusing Juror No. 11, and I would let you make any additional record you want to on that.

RP 10-11. The prosecutor then made a record as to why his disagreed

with the for cause challenge on Juror No.11 and the court made a record of

its reasoning in granting the challenge for cause. RP 11. It would appear from this record that the defense sought the removal of both jurors for cause during the sidebar.

Defendant has failed to identify any ruling of the court that closed the courtroom to any person. The court expressly noted that the courtroom was open throughout jury selection and all jury selection was conducted in the courtroom as opposed to the judge's chambers or the jury room. Defendant can point to no Washington case that has found a courtroom closure under these circumstances. Rather, defendant argues that the challenges for cause done during a sidebar conference effectively "closed" the courtroom as did conducting the peremptory challenge process in writing.

The right to a public trial serves to ensure a fair trial, to remind the prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the accused and the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury. *Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d at 514 (citing *Peterson v. Williams*, 85 F.3d 39, 43 (2d Cir. 1996)). But not every interaction between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial. *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 71. To decide whether a particular process must be open to the press and the general public, the *Sublett* court

adopted³ the "experience and logic" test formulated by the United States Supreme Court in *Press–Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court*, 478 U.S. 1, 8,

106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986). *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 73, 141.

The first part of the test, the experience prong, asks "whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public." The logic prong asks "whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question." If the answer to both is yes, the public trial right attaches and the Waller or Bone–Club factors must be considered before the proceeding may be closed to the public. We agree with this approach and adopt it in these circumstances.

Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. Applying that test, the Sublett court held that

no violation of the right to a public trial occurred when the court

considered a jury question in chambers. *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 74-77.

"None of the values served by the public trial right is violated under the

facts of this case.... The appearance of fairness is satisfied by having the

question, answer, and any objections placed on the record." Sublett, 176

Wn.2d at 77.

Division III of the Court of Appeals recently addressed whether challenges for cause done in a sidebar constituted a courtroom closure under the experience and logic test in *State v. Love*, ____ Wn. App. ____, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013). As to the experience prong the court concluded:

³ Although no opinion gathered more than four votes, eight of the nine justices sitting in *Sublett* approved the "experience and logic" test.

The history review confirms that in over 140 years of cause and peremptory challenges in this state, there is little evidence of the public exercise of such challenges, and some evidence that they are conducted privately. Our experience does not require that the exercise of these challenges be conducted in public.

Love, ____ Wn. App. ____, 309 P.3d at 1214. Under the logic prong, the court found that none of the purposes of the public trial right were furthered by a party's actions is making a challenge for cause or a peremptory challenge as a challenge for cause creates an issue of law for the judge to decide and a peremptory challenge "presents no questions of public oversight" *Id.* The court concluded that use of a side bar to conduct challenges for cause did not constitute a courtroom closure. *Id.*

In addition to the historical review conducted in *Love*, there is some additional authority that the public announcement of a peremptory challenge in open court by the party exercising the challenge is not a widespread practice. When the United States Supreme Court decided that it was just as improper for a criminal defendant to excuse a potential juror for an improper reason as it was a prosecutor, the court commented that "it is common practice not to reveal the identity of the challenging party to the jurors and potential jurors[.]" *Georgia v. McCollum*, 505 U.S. 42, 53 n.8, 112 S. Ct. 2348 (1992), citing Underwood, *Ending Race* Discrimination in Jury Selection: Whose Right Is It, Anyway?, 92 Colum.L.Rev. 725, 751, n. 117 (1992).

In the case now before the court, defendant does not point to any ruling of the court that excluded spectators or any other person from the courtroom during voir dire proceedings. The record indicates that all voir dire was carried on in open court. Challenges for cause were initially made in a sidebar and the court later made a public record as to what had occurred in the sidebar. Peremptory challenges were made by the attorneys in open court, albeit by a written process. Presumably, defendant could see the peremptory sheet and discuss the process with his attorney while it was going on. The written record of the process was reviewed by the court and filed, making it available for public inspection. CP 83. None of the peremptory challenges were contested and there was no need for the court to make any decisions on the peremptory challenges. SRP 47-49. The record offers no basis to assume that anything occurred during this process other than the written communication, among counsel and the court, of the names of the prospective jurors each counsel had decided to excuse by the right of peremptory challenge. Anyone can look at the peremptory challenge sheet and see exactly which party exercised which peremptory against which prospective juror and in what order. CP 83.

It should be noted that under *McCollum*, both the prosecution and defense are forbidden from removing a juror with a peremptory challenge for an improper purpose. Thus, if there was a concern that a juror was being removed for an improper reason, it is immaterial which party exercised a peremptory against that juror. Any potential juror who felt that he or she was being improperly removed from the jury could raise his or her concern with the trial court. Under the written process used here, the court would know who had exercised its peremptory against that person and could decide whether it was necessary for that party to explain its reasons for doing so. The procedure used below protects the values of the public trial right.

Defendant has failed to identify any closure of the courtroom during jury selection and fails to show how the procedures used in an open court undermined the purposes of the public trial right. Anyone sitting in the court room would know which jurors were excused for cause and why. The parties carefully recorded the names of the prospective jurors who were removed by peremptory challenge, as well as the order in which each challenge was made and the party who made it. CP 83. This document is easily understood, and it was made part of the open court record, available for public scrutiny. These procedures satisfied the court's obligation to ensure the open administration of justice.

- 17 -

The only thing that did not occur was the vocal announcement of each peremptory challenge as it was made. There is no indication that our constitution requires that everything and anything that concerns a public trial be announced in open court. For example, seven years after statehood, the Washington Supreme Court issued its opinion in State v. Holedger, 15 Wash. 443, 448, 46 Pac. 652 (1896). Holedger complained that his attorney was asked in open court and in front of the jury panel whether there was any objection to the jury being allowed to separate. The Supreme Court did not find any evidence that Holedger was prejudiced by this action, but did indicate that the better practice would be for the court to ask this question in a sidebar so as to avoid incurring the displeasure of juror who might be upset if there was an objection. The decision in *Holedger* was authored by Justice Dunbar and concurred in by Chief Justice Hoyt. Chief Justice Hoyt was the president of the 1889 constitutional convention, and Justice Dunbar was a delegate to the constitutional convention. See B. Rosenow, The Journal of the Washington State Constitutional Convention, at 468 (1889; B. Rosenow ed. 1962); C. Sheldon, The Washington High Bench: A Biographical History of the State Supreme Court, 1889-1991, at 134-37 (1992). Thus, at least two of the justices signing this opinion had considerable expertise in the protections given under the state constitution, yet neither found

certain trial functions being handled in a side bar to be inconsistent with the public's right to open proceedings. In 1904, the Court upheld the actions of trial court that utilized the "best-practice" recommended in *Holedger*. *See State v. Stockhammer*, 34 Wash. 262, 264, 75 P. 810 (1904) (noting that consent for the jury to separate was given by defense counsel at the bench out of the hearing of the defendant and the jury).

Defendant has failed to show that any of the values served by the public trial right was violated by use of a side bar or the written peremptory challenge procedure during the jury selection process when the court made a latter record in open court of what had occurred in the side bar and filed the written document created in the peremptory process, making it a public record. He relies upon a case from California to support his argument, *People v. Harris*, 10 Cal. App. 4th 672, 12 Cal.Rptr.2d 758 (1992), but that was a case where the peremptory challenges were exercised in chambers then announced in open court so it is distinguishable from what happened here. The retreat of the parties and court into chambers and out of the open courtroom raises a closure issue. A public spectator at the *Harris* case could not see or hear what was happening in chambers, whereas in defendant's case, he could see that there was a brief sidebar discussion among court and counsel and would later hear what occurred during that sidebar. As defendant has failed to show that any improper closure of the courtroom occurred this issue is without merit.

c. <u>Defendant Allegation That He Was Denied</u> <u>The Right To Be Present Is Not Properly</u> <u>Before The Court And, Further, Any Error</u> <u>Is Harmless Beyond A Reasonable Doubt.</u>

The right of a criminal defendant to be present at his trial is protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to the federal constitution and article 1, § 22 of the state constitution. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874 880, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). A defendant has a right to be present at a proceeding "whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fullness of his opportunity to defend against the charge." *Snyder v. Massachusetts*, 291 U.S. 97, 105–06, 54 S. Ct. 330, 78 L. Ed. 674 (1934), *overruled in part on other grounds sub nom. Malloy v. Hogan*, 378 U.S. 1, 84 S. Ct. 1489, 12 L. Ed. 2d 653 (1964). This right to be present extends to jury voir dire. *Synder*, 291 U.S. at 106, *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 883.

At issue in *Irby*, were email communications between the court and counsel that concerned a portion of jury selection; the court and the attorneys agreed via email that several jurors could be removed for cause after review of their questionnaires. It is clear that Irby was in custody at the time that these email communications were exchanged and that the timing of the email exchanges made it unlikely that Irby's attorney had consulted him about the challenged jurors. The court noted "significantly, the record here does not evidence the fact that defense counsel spoke to Irby before responding to the trial judge's e-mail." The court found a violation of Irby's right to be present under these facts.

In the case now before the court, defendant contends that his right to be present was violated because he was not allowed to be present at the sidebar conference when the court ruled upon his attorney's challenges for cause. SRP 47; RP 10-11.

At the outset, this court should refuse to review this claim because defendant did not object in the trial court and he cannot meet the standard set by RAP 2.5, as discussed above. Unlike Irby, defendant was present in the courtroom and had the opportunity to object when the court called counsel up to for the sidebar. More importantly, unlike Irby, defendant had ample opportunity to consult with his attorney during the selection process that was being conducted in the open courtroom. Because attorney client conversations are privileged, in-court communications and discussions between a defendant and his attorney not made part of the record; respect for the attorney-client relationship makes it unlikely that a trial court will inquire as to what is or is not being discussed between them. On occasion, the record might reflect that a private conversation

-21 -

occurred between defense counsel and the defendant, because the attorney asks the court for a moment to consult with his client, but this is the exception rather than the rule. Generally, the record will be an unreliable indicator of whether such conversations occurred. As such no manifest error affecting a constitutional right can be shown from the silent record before an appellate court. A defendant present and represented by counsel in an open courtroom during jury selection cannot show that he is being denied his opportunity to consult with his attorney unless he objects. Here, defendant asks this court to engage in complete speculation as to whether he was denied his constitutional right to give input and consult with his attorney as to which potential jurors should be challenged for cause. Moreover, defendant cannot show that he was prejudiced by what occurred below. The defense successfully sought the removal of two jurors for cause. It is clear that defense counsel believed his client would receive a fairer trial without those jurors and sought their removal. Defendant cannot show how he was prejudiced by their removal.

In addition to RAP 2.5, the doctrine of invited error should also preclude appellate review of this claim. Under the doctrine of invited error, counsel cannot set up an error at trial and then complain of it on appeal. *State v. Pam*, 101 Wn.2d 507, 511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984), *overruled on other grounds in State v. Olson*, 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d

- 22 -

629 (1995). "The invited error doctrine prevents parties from benefiting from any error they caused at trial regardless of whether it was done intentionally or unintentionally." *State v. Recuenco*, 154 Wn.2d 156, 163, 110 P.3d 188 (2005), *rev'd on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006). The invited error doctrine is a "strict rule' to be applied in every situation where the defendant's actions at least in part cause[d] the error." *State v. Summers*, 107 Wn. App. 373, 381–82, 28 P.3d 780, 43 P.3d 526 (2001) (quoting *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999)). Here, defendant sought a ruling on two challenges for cause during a sidebar without lodging any objection to the use of a sidebar. He benefited from the court's grant of his two challenges for cause, yet now seeks to claim that he is entitled to a new trial for use of a procedure that he actively participated in.

Finally, even if this court finds that this issue that is properly before the court for review, it should find that any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. A violation of the right to be present is subject to harmless error analysis under both the state and federal constitutions. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 885-86. It is clear that Juror No. 16, who had been a victim of a crime, did not think that he could be fair and impartial. SRP 9-10, 34-35. It is difficult to imagine any court failing to remove a juror who repeatedly indicates that he cannot be fair. This is why both attorneys agreed that this juror should be removed for cause. RP 11-12. The removal of this juror did nothing but benefit the defendant.

Juror No. 11 was removed for cause over the prosecution's objection. RP 10-11. That juror worked for Safeway as a clerk and defendant was charged with committing a crime at a Safeway store against store employees. The trial court found that this was sufficient to establish implied bias and excused Juror No. 11 for cause. Id. If the court had denied the challenge for cause, the logical next step would have been for defense counsel to use a peremptory challenge to remove her as he clearly wanted her off the jury panel and had peremptory challenges to spare. CP 83. While defendant might have a constitutional right to give input to his attorney as to who should or should not sit on the jury, defendant has presented no authority that his decisions on peremptory challenges must control over those of his attorney and irrespective of the opinion or judgment of his attorney. It is clear that defense counsel wanted the removal of Juror No. 11 and that he had ample peremptory challenges to remove her if the motion for removal for cause was not granted. Thus Juror 11 would not have sat on defendant's jury regardless of what occurred in the sidebar conference and any error in granting a challenge for cause in a sidebar conference was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 2. DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS FOR ROBBERY IN THE SECOND DEGREE AND ASSAULT IN THE THIRD DEGREE DO NOT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY BECAUSE EACH CRIME IS A SEPARATE OFFENSE.

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